

DRAFT BAHAMAS NATIONAL STANDARD

Conformity assessment – Requirements for the operation of various types of bodies performing inspection

DBNS ISO/IEC 17020:2012

Bahamas Bureau of Standards & Quality (BBSQ)

Source River Centre, 1000 Bacardi Road P.O. Box N- 4843, Nassau, New Providence, Bahamas

Tel: (242) 362-1748 thru 56 Fax: (242) 362-9172

Email: standards@bbsq.bs
Website: www.bbsq.bs



BBSQ Foreword

This *draft* national standard is identical to the English version of the International Standard ISO/IEC 17020:2012 *Conformity assessment – Requirements for the operation of various types of bodies performing inspection*. The national committee responsible for reviewing this standard is Technical Committee 13 *Conformity Assessment*. This *draft* standard contains requirements that are relevant for The Bahamas.

BBSQ Committee Representation

This ISO International Standard *will* be adopted as a national standard under the supervision of the National Technical Committee for Conformity Assessment (NTC 13) hosted by the Bahamas Bureau of Standards and Quality which at the time comprised the following members:

Member	Representing
Dr. Ismae Whyms (Chairperson)	The Public Hospitals Authority
Mr. Nathaniel Lloyd (Technical Secretary)	The Royal Bahamas Police Force Forensic Lab
Ms. Deborah Deal	Contemporary Builders Limited
Mrs. Felicia Scott-Blair	The Royal Bahamas Police Force Forensic Lab
Dr. Morton Anthony C. Frankson	The University of the West Indies SCMR
Dr. Camille Stephen-Cadot	Princess Margaret Hospital
Ms. Alexandra Hall	Higgs & Johnson
Ms. Karen Ingraham	Princess Margaret Hospital
Mr. André Moss	Sun Oil Limited
Mrs. Joyanne Thompson	The University of The Bahamas
Dr. Veronica Toppin	The University of The Bahamas
Mr. Edwin Yuklow	The Ministry of Works

Contents

Page

Foreword	iv
Introduction	\
1 Scope	
·	
2 Normative references	1
3 Terms and definitions	1
4 General requirements	3
4.1 Impartiality and independence	
4.2 Confidentiality	2
5 Structural requirements	
5.1 Administrative requirements	
5.2 Organization and management	2
6 Resource requirements	
6.1 Personnel	
6.2 Facilities and equipment	
3	
7 Process requirements	
7.1 Inspection methods and procedures	
7.3 Inspection records	
7.4 Inspection reports and inspection certificates	9
7.5 Complaints and appeals	
7.6 Complaints and appeals process	
8 Management system requirements	
8.1 Options	
8.2 Management system documentation (Option A)	
8.4 Control of records (Option A)	
8.5 Management review (Option A)	
8.6 Internal audits (Option A)	13
8.7 Corrective actions (Option A)	
8.8 Preventive actions (Option A)	
Annex A (normative) Independence requirements for inspection bodies	15
Annex B (informative) Optional elements of inspection reports and certificates	17
Pibliography	10

Foreword

ISO (the International Organization for Standardization) and IEC (the International Electrotechnical Commission) form the specialized system for worldwide standardization. National bodies that are members of ISO or IEC participate in the development of International Standards through technical committees established by the respective organization to deal with particular fields of technical activity. ISO and IEC technical committees collaborate in fields of mutual interest. Other international organizations, governmental and non-governmental, in liaison with ISO and IEC, also take part in the work. In the field of conformity assessment, the ISO Committee on conformity assessment (CASCO) is responsible for the development of International Standards and Guides.

International Standards are drafted in accordance with the rules given in the ISO/IEC Directives, Part 2.

Draft International Standards are circulated to the national bodies for voting. Publication as an International Standard requires approval by at least 75 % of the national bodies casting a vote.

Attention is drawn to the possibility that some of the elements of this document may be the subject of patent rights. ISO shall not be held responsible for identifying any or all such patent rights.

ISO/IEC 17020 was prepared by the ISO Committee on conformity assessment (CASCO).

It was circulated for voting to the national bodies of both ISO and IEC, and was approved by both organizations.

This second edition cancels and replaces the first edition (ISO/IEC 17020:1998), which has been technically revised.

Introduction

This International Standard has been drawn up with the objective of promoting confidence in bodies performing inspection.

Inspection bodies carry out assessments on behalf of private clients, their parent organizations, or authorities, with the objective of providing information about the conformity of inspected items with regulations, standards, specifications, inspection schemes or contracts. Inspection parameters include matters of quantity, quality, safety, fitness for purpose, and continued safety compliance of installations or systems in operation. The general requirements with which these bodies are required to comply in order that their services are accepted by clients and by supervisory authorities are harmonized in this International Standard.

This International Standard covers the activities of inspection bodies whose work can include the examination of materials, products, installations, plants, processes, work procedures or services, and the determination of their conformity with requirements and the subsequent reporting of results of these activities to clients and, when required, to authorities. Inspection can concern all stages during the lifetime of these items, including the design stage. Such work normally requires the exercise of professional judgement in performing inspection, in particular when assessing conformity with general requirements.

This International Standard can be used as a requirements document for accreditation or peer assessment or other assessments.

This set of requirements can be interpreted when applied to particular sectors.

Inspection activities can overlap with testing and certification activities where these activities have common characteristics. However, an important difference is that many types of inspection involve professional judgement to determine acceptability against general requirements, for which reason the inspection body needs the necessary competence to perform the task.

Inspection can be an activity embedded in a larger process. For example, inspection can be used as a surveillance activity in a product certification scheme. Inspection can be an activity that precedes maintenance or simply provides information about the inspected item with no determination of conformity with requirements. In such cases, further interpretation might be needed.

The categorization of inspection bodies as type A, B or C is essentially a measure of their independence. Demonstrable independence of an inspection body can strengthen the confidence of the inspection body's clients with respect to the body's ability to carry out inspection work with impartiality.

In this International Standard, the following verbal forms are used:

_	"shall" indicates a requirement;
	"should" indicates a recommendation;
_	"may" indicates a permission;

"can" indicates a possibility or a capability.

Conformity assessment – Requirements for the operation of various types of bodies performing inspection

1 Scope

This International Standard contains requirements for the competence of bodies performing inspection and for the impartiality and consistency of their inspection activities.

It applies to inspection bodies of type A, B or C, as defined in this International Standard, and it applies to any stage of inspection.

NOTE The stages of inspection include design stage, type examination, initial inspection, in-service inspection or surveillance.

2 Normative references

The following referenced documents are indispensable for the application of this document. For dated references, only the edition cited applies. For undated references, the latest edition of the referenced document (including any amendments) applies.

ISO/IEC 17000, Conformity assessment — Vocabulary and general principles

3 Terms and definitions

For the purposes of this document, the terms and definitions given in ISO/IEC 17000 and the following apply.

3 1

inspection

examination of a **product** (3.2), **process** (3.3), **service** (3.4), or installation or their design and determination of its conformity with specific requirements or, on the basis of professional judgment, with general requirements

- NOTE 1 Inspection of processes can include personnel, facilities, technology or methodology.
- NOTE 2 Inspection procedures or schemes can restrict inspection to examination only.
- NOTE 3 Adapted from ISO/IEC 17000:2004, definition 4.3.
- NOTE 4 The term "item" is used in this International Standard to encompass product, process, service or installation, as appropriate.

3.2

product

result of a process

NOTE 1 Four generic product categories are noted in ISO 9000:2005:

- services (e.g. transport) (see definition in 3.4);
- software (e.g. computer program, dictionary);
- hardware (e.g. engine, mechanical part);
- processed materials (e.g. lubricant).

Many products comprise elements belonging to different generic product categories. Whether the product is then called service, software, hardware or processed material depends on the dominant element.

- NOTE 2 Products include results of natural processes, such as growth of plants and formation of other natural resources.
- NOTE 3 Adapted from ISO/IEC 17000:2004, definition 3.3.

3.3

process

set of interrelated or interacting activities which transforms inputs into outputs

NOTE Adapted from ISO 9000:2005, definition 3.4.1.

3.4

service

result of at least one activity necessarily performed at the interface between the supplier and the customer, which is generally intangible

NOTE 1 Provision of a service can involve, for example, the following:

- an activity performed on a customer-supplied tangible product (e.g. automobile to be repaired);
- an activity performed on a customer-supplied intangible product (e.g. the income statement needed to prepare a tax return);
- the delivery of an intangible product (e.g. the delivery of information in the context of knowledge transmission);
- the creation of ambience for the customer (e.g. in hotels and restaurants).

NOTE 2 Adapted from ISO 9000:2005, definition 3.4.2, Note 2.

3.5

inspection body

body that performs inspection (3.1)

NOTE An inspection body can be an organization, or part of an organization.

3.6

inspection system

rules, procedures, and management for carrying out inspection

- NOTE 1 An inspection system can be operated at international, regional, national or sub-national level.
- NOTE 2 Adapted from ISO/IEC 17000:2004, definition 2.7.

3.7

inspection scheme

inspection system (3.6) to which the same specified requirements, specific rules and procedures apply

- NOTE 1 Inspection schemes can be operated at international, regional, national or sub-national level.
- NOTE 2 Schemes are sometimes also referred to as "programmes".
- NOTE 3 Adapted from ISO/IEC 17000:2004, definition 2.8.

3.8

impartiality

presence of objectivity

NOTE 1 Objectivity means that conflicts of interest do not exist or are resolved so as not to adversely influence subsequent activities of the inspection body.

NOTE 2 Other terms that are useful in conveying the element of impartiality are: independence, freedom from conflict of interests, freedom from bias, lack of prejudice, neutrality, fairness, open-mindedness, even-handedness, detachment, balance.

3.9

appeal

request by the provider of the item of inspection to the inspection body for reconsideration by that body of a decision it has made relating to that item

NOTE Adapted from ISO/IEC 17000:2004, definition 6.4.

3.10

complaint

expression of dissatisfaction, other than appeal, by any person or organization to an inspection body, relating to the activities of that body, where a response is expected

NOTE Adapted from ISO/IEC 17000:2004, definition 6.5.

4 General requirements

4.1 Impartiality and independence

- **4.1.1** Inspection activities shall be undertaken impartially.
- **4.1.2** The inspection body shall be responsible for the impartiality of its inspection activities and shall not allow commercial, financial or other pressures to compromise impartiality.
- **4.1.3** The inspection body shall identify risks to its impartiality on an ongoing basis. This shall include those risks that arise from its activities, or from its relationships, or from the relationships of its personnel. However, such relationships do not necessarily present an inspection body with a risk to impartiality.
- NOTE A relationship that threatens the impartiality of the inspection body can be based on ownership, governance, management, personnel, shared resources, finances, contracts, marketing (including branding), and payment of a sales commission or other inducement for the referral of new clients, etc.
- **4.1.4** If a risk to impartiality is identified, the inspection body shall be able to demonstrate how it eliminates or minimizes such risk.
- **4.1.5** The inspection body shall have top management commitment to impartiality.
- **4.1.6** The inspection body shall be independent to the extent that is required with regard to the conditions under which it performs its services. Depending on these conditions, it shall meet the minimum requirements stipulated in Annex A, as outlined below.
- a) An inspection body providing third party inspections shall meet the type A requirements of Clause A.1 (third party inspection body).
- b) An inspection body providing first party inspections, second party inspections, or both, which forms a separate and identifiable part of an organization involved in the design, manufacture, supply, installation, use or maintenance of the items it inspects and which supplies inspection services only to its parent organization (in-house inspection body) shall meet the type B requirements of Clause A.2.
- c) An inspection body providing first party inspections, second party inspections, or both, which forms an identifiable but not necessarily a separate part of an organization involved in the design, manufacture, supply, installation, use or maintenance of the items it inspects and which supplies inspection services to its parent organization or to other parties, or to both, shall meet the type C requirements of Clause A.3.

4.2 Confidentiality

4.2.1 The inspection body shall be responsible, through legally enforceable commitments, for the management of all information obtained or created during the performance of inspection activities. The inspection body shall inform the client, in advance, of the information it intends to place in the public domain. Except for information that the client makes publicly available, or when agreed between the inspection body and the client (e.g. for the purpose of responding to complaints), all other information is considered proprietary information and shall be regarded as confidential.

NOTE Legally enforceable commitments can be, for example, contractual agreements.

- **4.2.2** When the inspection body is required by law or authorized by contractual commitments to release confidential information, the client or individual concerned shall, unless prohibited by law, be notified of the information provided.
- **4.2.3** Information about the client obtained from sources other than the client (e.g. complainant, regulators) shall be treated as confidential.

5 Structural requirements

5.1 Administrative requirements

- **5.1.1** The inspection body shall be a legal entity, or a defined part of a legal entity, such that it can be held legally responsible for all its inspection activities.
- NOTE A governmental inspection body is deemed to be a legal entity on the basis of its governmental status.
- **5.1.2** An inspection body that is part of a legal entity involved in activities other than inspection shall be identifiable within that entity.
- **5.1.3** The inspection body shall have documentation which describes the activities for which it is competent.
- **5.1.4** The inspection body shall have adequate provision (e.g. insurance or reserves) to cover liabilities arising from its operations.
- NOTE The liability can be assumed by the State in accordance with national laws, or by the organization of which the inspection body forms a part.
- **5.1.5** The inspection body shall have documentation describing the contractual conditions under which it provides the inspection, except when it provides inspection services to the legal entity of which it is a part.

5.2 Organization and management

- **5.2.1** The inspection body shall be structured and managed so as to safeguard impartiality.
- **5.2.2** The inspection body shall be organized and managed so as to enable it to maintain the capability to perform its inspection activities.
- NOTE Inspection schemes can require that the inspection body participates in the exchange of technical experience with other inspection bodies in order to maintain this capability.
- **5.2.3** The inspection body shall define and document the responsibilities and reporting structure of the organization.
- **5.2.4** Where the inspection body forms a part of a legal entity performing other activities, the relationship between these other activities and inspection activities shall be defined.

- **5.2.5** The inspection body shall have available one or more person(s) as technical manager(s) who have overall responsibility to ensure that the inspection activities are carried out in accordance with this International Standard.
- NOTE This person fulfilling this function does not always have the title of technical manager.

The person(s) fulfilling this function shall be technically competent and experienced in the operation of the inspection body. Where the inspection body has more than one technical manager, the specific responsibilities of each manager shall be defined and documented.

- **5.2.6** The inspection body shall have one or more named person(s) who will deputize in the absence of any technical manager responsible for ongoing inspection activities.
- **5.2.7** The inspection body shall have a job description or other documentation for each position category within its organization involved in inspection activities.

6 Resource requirements

6.1 Personnel

- **6.1.1** The inspection body shall define and document the competence requirements for all personnel involved in inspection activities, including requirements for education, training, technical knowledge, skills and experience.
- NOTE The competence requirements can be part of the job description or other documentation mentioned in 5.2.7.
- **6.1.2** The inspection body shall employ, or have contracts with, a sufficient number of persons with the required competencies, including, where needed, the ability to make professional judgements, to perform the type, range and volume of its inspection activities.
- **6.1.3** The personnel responsible for inspection shall have appropriate qualifications, training, experience and a satisfactory knowledge of the requirements of the inspections to be carried out. They shall also have relevant knowledge of the following:
- the technology used for the manufacture of the products inspected, the operation of processes and the delivery of services;
- the way in which products are used, processes are operated and services are delivered;
- any defects which may occur during the use of the product, any failures in the operation of the process and any deficiencies in the delivery of services.

They shall understand the significance of deviations found with regard to the normal use of the products, the operation of the processes and the delivery of services.

- **6.1.4** The inspection body shall make clear to each person their duties, responsibilities and authorities.
- **6.1.5** The inspection body shall have documented procedures for selecting, training, formally authorizing, and monitoring inspectors and other personnel involved in inspection activities.
- **6.1.6** The documented procedures for training (see 6.1.5) shall address the following stages:
- a) an induction period;
- b) a mentored working period with experienced inspectors;
- c) continuing training to keep pace with developing technology and inspection methods.

- **6.1.7** The training required shall depend upon the ability, qualifications and experience of each inspector and other personnel involved in inspection activities, and upon the results of monitoring (see 6.1.8).
- **6.1.8** Personnel familiar with the inspection methods and procedures shall monitor all inspectors and other personnel involved in inspection activities for satisfactory performance. Results of monitoring shall be used as a means of identifying training needs (see 6.1.7).
- NOTE Monitoring can include a combination of techniques, such as on-site observations, report reviews, interviews, simulated inspections and other techniques to assess performance, and will depend on the nature of inspection activities.
- **6.1.9** Each inspector shall be observed on-site, unless there is sufficient supporting evidence that the inspector is continuing to perform competently.
- NOTE It is expected that on-site observations are performed in a way that minimizes the disturbance of the inspections, especially from the client's viewpoint.
- **6.1.10** The inspection body shall maintain records of monitoring, education, training, technical knowledge, skills, experience and authorization of each member of its personnel involved in inspection activities.
- **6.1.11** The personnel involved in inspection activities shall not be remunerated in a way that influences the results of inspections.
- **6.1.12** All personnel of the inspection body, either internal or external, that could influence the inspection activities shall act impartially.
- **6.1.13** All personnel of the inspection body, including sub-contractors, personnel of external bodies, and individuals acting on the inspection body's behalf, shall keep confidential all information obtained or created during the performance of the inspection activities, except as required by law.

6.2 Facilities and equipment

- **6.2.1** The inspection body shall have available, suitable and adequate facilities and equipment to permit all activities associated with the inspection activities to be carried out in a competent and safe manner.
- NOTE The inspection body need not be the owner of the facilities or equipment that it uses. Facilities and equipment can be borrowed, rented, hired, leased or provided by another party (e.g. the manufacturer or installer of the equipment). However, the responsibility for the suitability and the calibration status of the equipment used in inspection, whether owned by the inspection body or not, lies solely with the inspection body.
- **6.2.2** The inspection body shall have rules for the access to, and the use of, specified facilities and equipment used to perform inspections.
- **6.2.3** The inspection body shall ensure the continued suitability of the facilities and the equipment mentioned in 6.2.1 for their intended use.
- **6.2.4** All equipment having a significant influence on the results of the inspection shall be defined and, where appropriate, uniquely identified.
- **6.2.5** All equipment (see 6.2.4) shall be maintained in accordance with documented procedures and instructions.
- **6.2.6** Where appropriate, measurement equipment having a significant influence on the results of the inspection shall be calibrated before being put into service, and thereafter calibrated according to an established programme.
- **6.2.7** The overall programme of calibration of equipment shall be designed and operated so as to ensure that, wherever applicable, measurements made by the inspection body are traceable to national or international standards of measurement, where available. Where traceability to national or international standards of measurement is not applicable, the inspection body shall maintain evidence of correlation or accuracy of inspection results.

6

- **6.2.8** Reference standards of measurement held by the inspection body shall be used for calibration only and for no other purpose. Reference standards of measurement shall be calibrated providing traceability to a national or international standard of measurement.
- **6.2.9** Where relevant, equipment shall be subjected to in-service checks between regular recalibrations.
- **6.2.10** Reference materials shall, where possible, be traceable to national or international reference materials, where they exist.
- **6.2.11** Where relevant for the outcome of inspection activities, the inspection body shall have procedures for the following:
- a) selection and approval of suppliers;
- b) verification of incoming goods and services;
- c) ensuring appropriate storage facilities.
- **6.2.12** Where applicable, the condition of stored items shall be assessed at appropriate intervals to detect deterioration.
- **6.2.13** If the inspection body uses computers or automated equipment in connection with inspections, it shall ensure that:
- a) computer software is adequate for use;

NOTE This can be done by the following:

- validation of calculations before use;
- periodic revalidation of related hardware and software;
- revalidation whenever changes are made to related hardware or software;
- software updates implemented as required.
- b) procedures are established and implemented for protecting the integrity and security of data;
- c) computer and automated equipment is maintained in order to ensure proper functioning.
- **6.2.14** The inspection body shall have documented procedures for dealing with defective equipment. Defective equipment shall be removed from service by segregation, prominent labeling or marking. The inspection body shall examine the effect of defects on previous inspections and, when necessary, take appropriate corrective action.
- **6.2.15** Relevant information on the equipment, including software, shall be recorded. This shall include identification and, where appropriate, information on calibration and maintenance.

6.3 Subcontracting

6.3.1 The inspection body shall itself normally perform the inspections that it contracts to undertake. Where an inspection body subcontracts any part of the inspection, it shall ensure and be able to demonstrate that the subcontractor is competent to perform the activities in question and, where applicable, complies with the relevant requirements stipulated in this International Standard or in other relevant conformity assessment standards.

NOTE 1 Reasons to subcontract can include the following:

- an unforeseen or abnormal overload;
- key inspection staff members being incapacitated;
- key facilities or items of equipment being temporarily unfit for use;

- part of the contract from the client involving inspection not covered by the inspection body's scope or being beyond the capability or resources of the inspection body.
- NOTE 2 The terms "subcontracting" and "outsourcing" are considered to be synonyms.
- NOTE 3 Where the inspection body engages individuals or employees of other organizations to provide additional resources or expertise, these individuals are not considered to be subcontractors provided they are formally contracted to operate under the inspection body's management system (see 6.1.2).
- **6.3.2** The inspection body shall inform the client of its intention to subcontract any part of the inspection.
- **6.3.3** Whenever subcontractors carry out work that forms part of an inspection, the responsibility for any determination of conformity of the inspected item with the requirements shall remain with the inspection body.
- **6.3.4** The inspection body shall record and retain details of its investigation of the competence of its subcontractors and of their conformity with the applicable requirements of this International Standard or in other relevant conformity assessment standards. The inspection body shall maintain a register of all subcontractors.

7 Process requirements

7.1 Inspection methods and procedures

- **7.1.1** The inspection body shall use the methods and procedures for inspection which are defined in the requirements against which inspection is to be performed. Where these are not defined, the inspection body shall develop specific methods and procedures to be used (see 7.1.3). The inspection body shall inform the client if the inspection method proposed by the client is considered to be inappropriate.
- NOTE The requirements against which the inspection is performed are normally specified in regulations, standards or specifications, inspection schemes or contracts. Specifications can include client or in-house requirements.
- **7.1.2** The inspection body shall have and shall use adequate documented instructions on inspection planning and on sampling and inspection techniques, where the absence of such instructions could jeopardize the effectiveness of the inspection process. Where applicable, the inspection body shall have sufficient knowledge of statistical techniques to ensure statistically sound sampling procedures and the correct processing and interpretation of results.
- **7.1.3** When the inspection body has to use inspection methods or procedures which are non-standard, such methods and procedures shall be appropriate and fully documented.
- NOTE A standard inspection method is one that has been published, for example, in international, regional or national standards, or by reputable technical organizations or by co-operation of several inspection bodies or in relevant scientific text or journals. This means that methods developed by any other means, including by the inspection body itself or by the client, are considered to be non-standard methods.
- **7.1.4** All instructions, standards or written procedures, worksheets, check lists and reference data relevant to the work of the inspection body shall be maintained up-to-date and be readily available to the personnel.
- 7.1.5 The inspection body shall have a contract or work order control system which ensures that:
- a) work to be undertaken is within its expertise and that the organization has adequate resources to meet the requirements;
 - NOTE Resources can include, but are not limited to, facilities, equipment, reference documentation, procedures or human resources.
- the requirements of those seeking the inspection body's services are adequately defined and that special conditions are understood, so that unambiguous instructions can be issued to personnel performing the duties to be required;

- c) work being undertaken is controlled by regular review and corrective action;
- d) the requirements of the contract or work order have been met.
- **7.1.6** When the inspection body uses information supplied by any other party as part of the inspection process, it shall verify the integrity of such information.
- **7.1.7** Observations or data obtained in the course of inspections shall be recorded in a timely manner so as to prevent loss of relevant information.
- **7.1.8** Calculations and data transfers shall be subject to appropriate checks.
- NOTE Data can include textual material, digital data and anything else that is transferred from one location to another where errors could be introduced.
- **7.1.9** The inspection body shall have documented instructions for carrying out inspection in a safe manner.

7.2 Handling inspection items and samples

- **7.2.1** The inspection body shall ensure items and samples to be inspected are uniquely identified in order to avoid confusion regarding the identity of such items and samples.
- **7.2.2** The inspection body shall establish whether the item to be inspected has been prepared.
- **7.2.3** Any apparent abnormalities notified to, or noticed by, the inspector shall be recorded. Where there is any doubt as to the item's suitability for the inspection to be carried out, or where the item does not conform to the description provided, the inspection body shall contact the client before proceeding.
- **7.2.4** The inspection body shall have documented procedures and appropriate facilities to avoid deterioration or damage to inspection items while under its responsibility.

7.3 Inspection records

- **7.3.1** The inspection body shall maintain a record system (see 8.4) to demonstrate the effective fulfilment of the inspection procedures and to enable an evaluation of the inspection.
- **7.3.2** The inspection report or certificate shall be internally traceable to the inspector(s) who performed the inspection.

7.4 Inspection reports and inspection certificates

- **7.4.1** The work carried out by the inspection body shall be covered by a retrievable inspection report or inspection certificate.
- **7.4.2** Any inspection report/certificate shall include all of the following:
- a) identification of the issuing body;
- b) unique identification and date of issue;
- c) date(s) of inspection;
- d) identification of the item(s) inspected;
- e) signature or other indication of approval, by authorized personnel;
- f) a statement of conformity where applicable;
- g) the inspection results, except where detailed in accordance with 7.4.3.

- NOTE Optional elements that can be included in inspection reports or certificates are listed in Annex B.
- **7.4.3** An inspection body shall issue an inspection certificate that does not include the inspection results [see 7.4.2 g)] only when the inspection body can also produce an inspection report containing the inspection results, and when both the inspection certificate and inspection report are traceable to each other.
- **7.4.4** All information listed in 7.4.2 shall be reported correctly, accurately, and clearly. Where the inspection report or inspection certificate contains results supplied by subcontractors, these results shall be clearly identified.
- **7.4.5** Corrections or additions to an inspection report or inspection certificate after issue shall be recorded in accordance with the relevant requirements of this subclause (7.4). An amended report or certificate shall identify the report or certificate replaced.

7.5 Complaints and appeals

- **7.5.1** The inspection body shall have a documented process to receive, evaluate and make decisions on complaints and appeals.
- **7.5.2** A description of the handling process for complaints and appeals shall be available to any interested party upon request.
- **7.5.3** Upon receipt of a complaint, the inspection body shall confirm whether the complaint relates to inspection activities for which it is responsible and, if so, shall deal with it.
- **7.5.4** The inspection body shall be responsible for all decisions at all levels of the handling process for complaints and appeals.
- **7.5.5** Investigation and decision on appeals shall not result in any discriminatory actions.

7.6 Complaints and appeals process

- **7.6.1** The handling process for complaints and appeals shall include at least the following elements and methods:
- a) a description of the process for receiving, validating, investigating the complaint or appeal, and deciding what actions are to be taken in response to it;
- b) tracking and recording complaints and appeals, including actions undertaken to resolve them;
- c) ensuring that any appropriate action is taken.
- **7.6.2** The inspection body receiving the complaint or appeal shall be responsible for gathering and verifying all necessary information to validate the complaint or appeal.
- **7.6.3** Whenever possible, the inspection body shall acknowledge receipt of the complaint or appeal, and shall provide the complainant or appellant with progress reports and the outcome.
- **7.6.4** The decision to be communicated to the complainant or appellant shall be made by, or reviewed and approved by, individual(s) not involved in the original inspection activities in question.
- **7.6.5** Whenever possible, the inspection body shall give formal notice of the end of the complaint and appeals handling process to the complainant or appellant.

10

8 Management system requirements

8.1 Options

8.1.1 General

The inspection body shall establish and maintain a management system that is capable of achieving the consistent fulfilment of the requirements of this International Standard in accordance with either Option A or Option B.

8.1.2 Option A

The management system of the inspection body shall address the following:

management system documentation (e.g. manual, policies, definition of responsibilities, see 8.2);
control of documents (see 8.3);
control of records (see 8.4);
management review (see 8.5);
internal audit (see 8.6);
corrective actions (see 8.7);
preventive actions (see 8.8);

8.1.3 Option B

An inspection body that has established and maintains a management system, in accordance with the requirements of ISO 9001, and that is capable of supporting and demonstrating the consistent fulfilment of the requirements of this International Standard, fulfils the management system clause requirements (see 8.2 to 8.8).

8.2 Management system documentation (Option A)

complaints and appeals (see 7.5 and 7.6).

- **8.2.1** The inspection body's top management shall establish, document, and maintain policies and objectives for fulfilment of this International Standard and shall ensure the policies and objectives are acknowledged and implemented at all levels of the inspection body's organization.
- **8.2.2** The top management shall provide evidence of its commitment to the development and implementation of the management system and its effectiveness in achieving consistent fulfilment of this International Standard.
- **8.2.3** The inspection body's top management shall appoint a member of management who, irrespective of other responsibilities, shall have responsibility and authority that include the following:
- a) ensuring that processes and procedures needed for the management system are established, implemented and maintained; and
- b) reporting to top management on the performance of the management system and any need for improvement.
- **8.2.4** All documentation, processes, systems, records, etc. related to the fulfilment of the requirements of this International Standard shall be included, referenced, or linked to documentation of the management system.

8.2.5 All personnel involved in inspection activities shall have access to the parts of the management system documentation and related information that are applicable to their responsibilities.

8.3 Control of documents (Option A)

- **8.3.1** The inspection body shall establish procedures to control the documents (internal and external) that relate to the fulfilment of this International Standard.
- **8.3.2** The procedures shall define the controls needed to:
- a) approve documents for adequacy prior to issue;
- b) review and update (as necessary) and re-approve documents;
- c) ensure that changes and the current revision status of documents are identified;
- d) ensure that relevant versions of applicable documents are available at points of use;
- e) ensure that documents remain legible and readily identifiable;
- f) ensure that documents of external origin are identified and their distribution controlled:
- g) prevent the unintended use of obsolete documents, and apply suitable identification to them if they are retained for any purpose.

NOTE Documentation can be in any form or type of medium, and includes proprietary and in-house developed software.

8.4 Control of records (Option A)

- **8.4.1** The inspection body shall establish procedures to define the controls needed for the identification, storage, protection, retrieval, retention time and disposition of its records related to the fulfilment of this International Standard.
- **8.4.2** The inspection body shall establish procedures for retaining records for a period consistent with its contractual and legal obligations. Access to these records shall be consistent with the confidentiality arrangements.

8.5 Management review (Option A)

8.5.1 General

- **8.5.1.1** The inspection body's top management shall establish procedures to review its management system at planned intervals, in order to ensure its continuing suitability, adequacy and effectiveness, including the stated policies and objectives related to the fulfilment of this International Standard.
- **8.5.1.2** These reviews shall be conducted at least once a year. Alternatively, a complete review broken up into segments (a rolling review) shall be completed within a 12-month time frame.
- **8.5.1.3** Records of reviews shall be maintained.

8.5.2 Review inputs

The input to the management review shall include information related to the following:

- a) results of internal and external audits;
- b) feedback from clients and interested parties related to the fulfilment of this International Standard;

- c) the status of preventive and corrective actions;
- d) follow-up actions from previous management reviews;
- e) the fulfilment of objectives;
- f) changes that could affect the management system;
- g) appeals and complaints.

8.5.3 Review outputs

The outputs from the management review shall include decisions and actions related to:

- a) improvement of the effectiveness of the management system and its processes;
- b) improvement of the inspection body related to the fulfilment of this International Standard;
- c) resource needs.

8.6 Internal audits (Option A)

- **8.6.1** The inspection body shall establish procedures for internal audits to verify that it fulfils the requirements of this International Standard and that the management system is effectively implemented and maintained.
- NOTE ISO 19011 provides guidelines for conducting internal audits.
- **8.6.2** An audit programme shall be planned, taking into consideration the importance of the processes and areas to be audited, as well as the results of previous audits.
- **8.6.3** The inspection body shall conduct periodic internal audits covering all procedures in a planned and systematic manner, in order to verify that the management system is implemented and is effective.
- **8.6.4** Internal audits shall be performed at least once every 12 months. The frequency of internal audits may be adjusted depending on the demonstrable effectiveness of the management system and its proven stability.
- **8.6.5** The inspection body shall ensure that:
- a) internal audits are conducted by qualified personnel knowledgeable in inspection, auditing and the requirements of this International Standard;
- b) auditors do not audit their own work;
- c) personnel responsible for the area audited are informed of the outcome of the audit;
- d) any actions resulting from internal audits are taken in a timely and appropriate manner;
- e) any opportunities for improvement are identified;
- f) the results of the audit are documented.

8.7 Corrective actions (Option A)

- **8.7.1** The inspection body shall establish procedures for identification and management of nonconformities in its operations.
- **8.7.2** The inspection body shall also, where necessary, take actions to eliminate the causes of nonconformities in order to prevent recurrence.

- **8.7.3** Corrective actions shall be appropriate to the impact of the problems encountered.
- **8.7.4** The procedures shall define requirements for the following:
- a) identifying nonconformities;
- b) determining the causes of nonconformity;
- c) correcting nonconformities;
- d) evaluating the need for actions to ensure that nonconformities do not recur;
- e) determining the actions needed and implementing them in a timely manner;
- f) recording the results of actions taken;
- g) reviewing the effectiveness of corrective actions.

8.8 Preventive actions (Option A)

- **8.8.1** The inspection body shall establish procedures for taking preventive actions to eliminate the causes of potential nonconformities.
- **8.8.2** Preventive actions taken shall be appropriate to the probable impact of the potential problems.
- **8.8.3** The procedures for preventive actions shall define requirements for the following:
- a) identifying potential nonconformities and their causes;
- b) evaluating the need for action to prevent the occurrence of nonconformities;
- c) determining and implementing the action needed;
- d) recording the results of actions taken;
- e) reviewing the effectiveness of the preventive actions taken.

NOTE The procedures for corrective and preventive actions do not necessarily have to be separate.

Annex A

(normative)

Independence requirements for inspection bodies

A.1 Requirements for inspection bodies (Type A)

The inspection body referred to in 4.1.6 a) shall meet the requirements below.

- a) The inspection body shall be independent of the parties involved.
- b) The inspection body and its personnel shall not engage in any activities that may conflict with their independence of judgment and integrity in relation to their inspection activities. In particular, they shall not be engaged in the design, manufacture, supply, installation, purchase, ownership, use or maintenance of the items inspected.
 - NOTE 1 This does not preclude exchanging technical information between the client and the inspection body (e.g. explanation of findings, or clarifying requirements or training).
 - NOTE 2 This does not preclude the purchase, ownership or use of inspected items that are necessary for the operations of the inspection body, or the purchase, ownership or use of the items for personal purposes by the personnel.
- c) An inspection body shall not be a part of a legal entity that is engaged in design, manufacture, supply, installation, purchase, ownership, use or maintenance of the items inspected.
 - NOTE 1 This does not preclude exchanging technical information between the client and any other part of the same legal entity of which the inspection body is a part (e.g. explanation of findings, or clarifying requirements or training).
 - NOTE 2 This does not preclude the purchase, ownership, maintenance or use of inspected items that are necessary for the operations of another part of the same legal entity, or for personal purposes by the personnel.
- d) The inspection body shall not be linked to a separate legal entity engaged in the design, manufacture, supply, installation, purchase, ownership, use or maintenance of the items inspected by the following:
 - 1) common ownership, except where the owners have no ability to influence the outcome of an inspection;
 - EXAMPLE 1 A cooperative type of structure where there are large numbers of stakeholders, but they (individually or as a group) have no ability to influence the outcome of an inspection.
 - EXAMPLE 2 A holding company consisting of several separate legal entities (sister companies) under a common mother company, where neither the sister companies nor the mother company can influence the outcome of an inspection.
 - 2) common ownership appointees on the boards or equivalent of the organizations, except where these have functions that have no influence on the outcome of an inspection;
 - EXAMPLE A bank financing a company insists on an appointee to the board who will overview how the company is managed but will not be involved in any decision-making.
 - 3) directly reporting to the same higher level of management, except where this cannot influence the outcome of an inspection;
 - NOTE Reporting to the same higher level of management is permitted on matters other than design, manufacture, supply, installation, purchase, ownership, use or maintenance of the items inspected.
 - 4) contractual commitments, or other means that may have an ability to influence the outcome of an inspection.

A.2 Requirements for inspection bodies (Type B)

The inspection body referred to in 4.1.6 b) shall meet the requirements below.

- a) Inspection services shall only be supplied to the organization of which the inspection body forms a part.
- b) A clear separation of the responsibilities of the inspection personnel from those of the personnel employed in the other functions shall be established by organizational identification and the reporting methods of the inspection body within the parent organization.
- c) The inspection body and its personnel shall not engage in any activities that may conflict with their independence of judgment and integrity in relation to their inspection activities. In particular, they shall not be engaged in the design, manufacture, supply, installation, use or maintenance of the items inspected.
- NOTE 1 This does not preclude exchanging technical information between the inspection body and the other parts of the organization of which the inspection body forms a part, e.g. explanation of findings or clarifying requirements or training.
- NOTE 2 This does not preclude the purchase, ownership or use of inspected items that are necessary for the operations of the inspection body, or the purchase, ownership or use of the items for personal purposes by the personnel.

A.3 Requirements for inspection bodies (Type C)

The inspection body referred to in 4.1.6 c) shall meet the requirements below.

- The inspection body shall provide safeguards within the organization to ensure adequate segregation of responsibilities and accountabilities between inspection and other activities.
- b) The design/manufacture/supply/installation/servicing/maintenance and the inspection of the same item carried out by a Type C inspection body shall not be undertaken by the same person. An exception to this is where a regulatory requirement explicitly allows an individual person from a Type C inspection body to undertake both the design/manufacture/supply/installation/servicing/maintenance and the inspection of the same item, as long as this exception does not compromise the inspection results.

NOTE Inspections carried out by Type C inspection bodies cannot be classified as third party inspections for the same inspection activities because they do not meet the requirements of independence of operations for Type A inspection bodies.

Annex B

(informative)

Optional elements of inspection reports and certificates

The following optional elements can be included in inspection reports and certificates:

- a) designation of the document, i.e. as an inspection report or an inspection certificate, as appropriate;
- b) identification of the client;
 - NOTE The owner of the inspected item can be mentioned in the report or certificate if the owner is not the client.
- c) description of the inspection work ordered;
- d) information on what has been omitted from the original scope of work;
- e) identification or brief description of the inspection method(s) and procedure(s) used, mentioning the deviations from, additions to or exclusions from the agreed methods and procedures;
- f) identification of equipment used for measuring/testing;
- g) where applicable, and if not specified in the inspection method or procedure, reference to or description of the sampling method and information on where, when, how and by whom the samples were taken;
- h) information on where the inspection was carried out;
- i) information on environmental conditions during the inspection, if relevant;
- j) a statement that the inspection results relate exclusively to the work ordered or the item(s) or the lot inspected;
- k) a statement that the inspection report should not be reproduced, except in full;
- the inspector's mark or seal;
- m) names (or unique identification) of the personnel members who have performed the inspection and, in cases when secure electronic authentication is not undertaken, their signature (see also 7.4.2).

Bibliography

- [1] ISO 9000:2005, Quality management systems Fundamentals and vocabulary
- [2] ISO 9001, Quality management systems Requirements
- [3] ISO/IEC 17025, General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories
- [4] ISO 19011, Guidelines for quality and/or environmental management systems auditing
- [5] ISO/IEC Guide 99, International vocabulary of metrology Basic and general concepts and associated terms (VIM)

The Bahamas Bureau of Standards & Quality

The Bahamas Bureau of Standards and Quality (BBSQ), is a body corporate by virtue of the Standards Act and the Weights and Measures Act of 2006 with reporting relationship to the Ministry of Economic Affairs. The BBSQ is governed by a Standards Council that is responsibility for the policy and general administration of the Bureau.

The main objective of the BBSQ is to improve industry competitiveness in the domestic and export markets, facilitate trade by reducing technical barrier to trade, and strengthen consumer and environmental protection against unsafe products or services being placed on the market. This is accomplished through the formulation, adoption and /or adaption of standards as national instruments of socio-economic development. Additionally through offering metrology, inspection, testing and certification services, the latter three being collectively termed conformity assessment.

<u>Procedure for the Preparation of Standards Documents:</u>

- 1. The preparation of standards documents is undertaken upon the Standards Council's authorization. This may arise out of representations from national organizations or existing Bureau of Standards' Committees or Bureau staff. If the project is approved it is referred to the appropriate sectional committee, or if none exists a new committee is formed, or the project is allotted to Bureau staff.
- 2. If necessary, when the final draft of a standard is ready, the Council authorizes an approach to the Minister in order to obtain the formal concurrence of any other Minister who may be responsible for any area which the standard affects.
- 3. With the approval of the Standards Council, the draft document is made available for general public comments. All interested parties, by means of notice in the Press, are invited to comment. In addition copies are forwarded to those known to be interested in the subject.
- 4. The Committee considers all the comments received and recommends the final document to the Standards Council.
- 5. The Standards Council recommends the document to the Minister for publication.
- 6. The Minister approves the recommendation of the Standards Council.
- 7. The declaration of the standard is gazetted and copies placed for sale.
- 8. On the recommendation of the Standards Council the Minister may declare a standard to be compulsory.
- 9. If a standard is declared compulsory all relevant regulatory government agencies are notified to apply/enact enforcement of the standards.
- 10. Amendments to and revisions of standards normally require the same procedure as is applied to the preparation of the original standard.

Application to use the reference library and to purchase Bahamas National Standards and other standards documents should be addressed to: